1984

Tracy-Collins Trust Company v. Marian Story Goeltz : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of the Third Judicial District Court foreclosing a mortgage on certain real property, and declaring the plaintiff Tracy-Collins Trust Company to be subrogated to rights under a previously existing mortgage and ordering the real property sold first to satisfy the claim under the subrogation and thereafter to satisfy the subsequent mortgage. The appeal is by Marian Story Goeltz only, who was a co-signer of the previously existing mortgage, but who had no

relation to the subsequent mortgage and whose name was forged thereon, and completely without her knowledge or consent.

Tracy-Collins Trust Company, a corporation filed suit against the appellant and Francis B. Goeltz to foreclose a mortgage dated May 10, 1948, given to secure a promissory note of the same date, both documents purportedly signed by Francis B. Goeltz and Marian Story Goeltz, who at that time were husband and wife.

Defendant Francis B. Goeltz answered admitting the execution by him of the note and mortgage. Appellant answered, denying that she had executed such note and mortgage, denying that she received the money therefrom, and setting up as defenses that the note and mortgage purporting to pledge their joint interests in the real property, was void, that her signature thereon was a forgery, that she had not authorized Francis B. Goeltz or anyone else to sign her name; that at said time Francis B. Goeltz had no interest in the property; that Tracy-Collins Corporation had been negligent in handling the note and mortgage transaction, and that it had knowledge, or notice of facts divesting it of any claim as a bona fide lender.

Thereafter, Tracy-Collins Corp. filed its Supplementary Complaint setting up a claim of right to subrogation under an earlier mortgage, asserting that in 1936 Francis B. Goeltz and Marian Story Goeltz had executed a mortgage which subsequently was owned by Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Co., and which was paid off with a part of the proceeds of the 1948 mortgage monies.

Appellant Marian Story Goeltz answered the Supplemental Complaint controverting Tracy-Collins Corporation's right to subrogation and re-asserting defenses against the 1948 mortgage.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Francis B. Goeltz were husband and wife in 1936, at which time certain real property was purchased, and title thereto taken in their joint names. A mortgage loan was obtained on these premises October 27, 1936 (Ex. 22-P and 23-P). Appellant sought to introduce evidence in the trial court establishing the fact that she owned substantially the entire interest in the real property, but upon refusal of the court to allow this testimony, made an offer of proof to that effect. (R. 153, 154, 155).

Subsequently to 1936, Marian Story Goeltz and Francis B. Goeltz were divorced, and the real property in question was awarded to her in that proceedings. However, prior to the divorce, Francis B. Goeltz had, in 1948 mortgaged the property to Tracy-Collins Corp. under the following circumstances.

Goeltz had applied for a mortgage loan, which had apparently been approved, the papers were prepared, and Mr. Henager notified Mr. Goeltz to this effect. (R. 104, 114). Thereafter, Goeltz came into the bank and asked permission to take the papers out for Mrs. Goeltz to sign. (R. 114, R. 115). He was informed that this was irregular, that Mr. Henager had no authority to allow this, and the matter was referred to Mr.

Benedict, a bank officer. Mr. Benedict allowed Mr. Goeltz to take the papers out for signature on the representation by Mr. Goeltz that Mrs. Goeltz was ill and could not come in to sign them. (R. 168, 172, 173).

The circumstances under which the 1948 mortgage was made are very material to the issues raised on appeal, and bear emphasis at this point. Henager testified that he told Goeltz that to allow the papers out was contrary to their banking practice and rules, (R. 168, 114) and characterized the allowance of this in this case as "very unusual" (R. 104,5), and that they had practically no cases like it. Mr. Benedict, a bank officer, who authorized the loan papers to be taken out to be signed, testified that it was unusual to allow mortgage loan papers out (R. 168) that Mr. Goeltz made the request stating that Mrs. Goeltz was not feeling well, and that the very reason for not allowing mortgage loan papers out was to prevent just such occurrence as here occurred (R. 173, 174), and that allowing papers out was contrary to their banking practice (R. 173.) Mr. Benedict also testified that he knew Mrs. Goeltz very well, and that he could easily have contacted her and thus avoided this whole thing. (R. 173.)

The 1948 mortgage and mortgage note were signed by Francis B. Goeltz, and purportedly were signed by Mrs. Goeltz, and a check issued by Tracy-Collins Corp. to Francis Boydell Goeltz in the sum of \$3,851.60. The entire mortgage was in the sum of \$7,100, but the balance of \$3,224.41 was remitted to Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company to pay off the existing real estate mortgage as of that time. Tracy-Collins Corp. had no

interest in the existing mortgage other than as agent to receive payments, and admittedly had no recourse liability or otherwise on that mortgage.

Marian Story Goeltz first discovered the existence of the new mortgage loan in 1951, and went immediately to the bank concerning the same, and at that time told Mr. Benedict that she had not signed the same, and exhibited documents to him bearing her signature for comparison, and obtained his acknowledgement that the signature did not appear to be the same. (R. 150).

An expert testifying at the trial confirmed Mr. Benedict's opinion that the signatures were not the same, (R. 128-133) and indicated that a superficial examination convinced him of this fact.

The documentary proof asserted in support of the 1948 mortgage and note, including those documents reveal clearly that the note and mortgage purport to be a joint note and mortgage. (Ex. 9-P, 10-P). A supplemental agreement accompanying these documents gives further support to this fact. (Ex. 11-P). Nowhere either in the documentary proof or in the oral evidence is there any suggestion that a separation of the interests in the property was ever contemplated, or that anything less than the entire property was considered as having been pledged, or that this was anything other than a joint loan. Nonetheless, the Findings of Fact, particularly Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, purposely ignore this fact and lend credence to the conclusions No. 3, 4, and 7(b) and the judgment following therefrom.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

- I. The 1948 Mortgage was a void mortgage, and Plaintiff cannot gain any rights thereunder.
- II. The plaintiff was guilty of culpable negligence and not entitled to any recovery under the 1948 mortgage.
- III. The claim of the plaintiff under the 1948 mortgage is subject to the true rights in ownership of said property as they actually existed in Marian Story Goeltz.
- IV. The trial court erred in refusing to allow the appellant to establish that the bank was put on notice in the 1948 mortgage loan application by the condition of the defendant Francis B. Goeltz physically and mentally at that time.
- V. The bank had possession of information from which it could have determined that the purported signatures of Marian Story Goeltz on the 1948 note and mortgage and supplemental agreement were forgeries, and was bound by what it should have discovered in this respect.
- VI. The plaintiff is not entitled to be subrogated to the original mortgage.
- VII. The trial court erred in its judgment with respect to the method and order of sale of the property subject to foreclosure.

Point I.

The 1948 mortgage was a void mortgage, and Plaintiff cannot gain any rights thereunder.

As indicated in the statement of facts heretofore, there is absolutely no doubt but that Mrs. Goeltz signature was forged on the note and mortgage, and on the supplemental agreement.

The entire transaction purported to be the mortgage of jointly owned property by the joint owners thereof, and to be a pledge of the entire interest of both parties therein, in exchange for a loan to them both. (Ex. 9P, 10P and 11P). No suggestion exists anywhere in the transaction that less than this was intended, or bargained for, and in fact the entire record is to the contrary. In fact, the discussion acknowledged by Henager and Benedict (R. 104-114, 168-173) indicates clearly that the loan was conditional upon Mrs. Goeltz signature being obtained, otherwise no necessity for any of the subsequent by-play existed.

In this respect, the case falls within the doctrine of Stockyards National Bank, etc. v. Bragg, 67 Utah 60, 245 P. ~~966~~ 966, wherein it was held that a mortgage conditioned upon certain minors also giving a valid mortgage was invalid en toto when the mortgage of the minor's interest failed of validity.

Certainly in the instant case, the Tracy-Collins Corp. did not intend to grant a mortgage on Goeltz interest in the property alone, and in fact, had such a suggestion been made to them, or had they been bargaining for such a transaction, they undoubtedly would have viewed the entire transaction more

closely than they did. Finding No. 24 is to the effect that they thought they were bargaining for the whole security, and all of the interest in the property.

To give them the benefit of a severance of the joint interest, and findings that Geoltz pledged his interest in that property, under the circumstances here involved, is to allow them to now assert in the findings something absolutely foreign to their own handling of the transaction and something absolutely contrary to fact, and findings No. 3, 4, 5 and 20 in this respect are contrary to the evidence and cannot be sustained, nor can the conclusions stemming therefrom, nor the judgment.

An Annotation at 151 ALR 414 (also noting earlier annotations) collects numerous cases dealing with the situation where a mortgage is void because of the forgery of a signature of the wife as here involved, and dealing specifically with the question of right of subrogation in such circumstances.

In the case of *Zinkeison v. Lewis*, 63 Kan. 590, 66 Pac. 644, a similar factual picture to the one here involved was presented. In that case, a new mortgage had been obtained by the husband and to pay off a prior mortgage. The wife did not sign the mortgage, and the husband admitted having signed his wife's name without authority. The evidence indicated that the wife knew of the forgery shortly thereafter, but said nothing about it, contrary to the facts in the present case. The court ruled the second mortgage invalid, but said that the lending agency was subrogated to the rights of the first mortgage which was satisfied with the monies from the second mortgage loan.

In the case *Serial Building Loan & Savings Inst. v. Ehrhardt* 95 N. J. Eq. 607, 124 A. 56, the court held that where the husband had forged the wife's signature to a mortgage that was partly used to pay off an earlier mortgage held by the *same* people, that the second mortgage was void and invalid because of the forgery, but that the plaintiff was entitled to be subrogated to the rights as they existed under the discharged first mortgage.

To the same effect see *Davies v. Pugh* 81 Ark. 253, 99 S.W. 78, wherein the wife's signature was forged by the husband and the court held the mortgage void in its entirety, but held that the plaintiff was entitled to subrogation to an earlier valid mortgage.

Also, in the case of *Carey v. Hart*, 208 Ala. 316, 94 So. 298, the wife's signature was forged and the court held the mortgage invalid.

In the case of *Home Owners Loan Corp. v. Papara*, 241 Wis. 112, 3 N. W. 2d 730, the names of certain co-tenants were forged to a note and mortgage purporting to mortgage the entire interest in the property, and the proceeds used to pay off an existing mortgage. The court held the mortgage to be invalid because of the forgery, but allowed the plaintiff to be subrogated to the rights existing under a prior valid mortgage.

Many, many other cases might be cited, including the following, holding that the new mortgage is invalid under circumstances where a forgery of one of the purported signatures exists, and holding that the remedy if one exists to the plaintiff

as to the real property involved, is in subrogation to a prior existing mortgage. *Kusky v. Staley*, 138 Kan. 869, 28 P. 2d 728; *Kaminskas v. Cepanskis*, 369 Ill. 566, 17 N. E. 2d 558; *Hall v. Marshall*, 139 Mich 123, 102 N. W. 658; and *Krost v. Kleg* (Mo.) 46 S. W. 2d 866.

In fact, the existence of the doctrine of subrogation in the law of mortgages is predicated to a considerable extent upon the theory that because of just such circumstances as a forgery, the interest bargained to be pledged has failed, and the mortgage void, and hence a remedy of subrogation made necessary in a proper case.

Appellant re-asserts that the 1948 mortgage in the present instance failed completed and was void by reason of the fact that it purported to be a pledge of the entire property, conditioned upon the signatures of both parties, and that hence no rights can exist in favor of the plaintiff against the property itself arising out of the mortgage, that the rights of the bank, if any, lie in subrogation, and that in this instance as will hereinafter be made evident, no right to subrogation existed.

Point II

The plaintiff was guilty of culpable negligence and not entitled to any recovery under the 1948 mortgage.

Here appellant relies upon the testimony of Mr. Henager and Mr. Benedict as indicated in the statement of facts to the effect that it was a very unusual thing to allow a mortgage and

mortgage note out of the office to be signed, that it was contrary to their banking practice and contrary to instructions, and that the rule and banking practice was designed to prevent the happening of just such an occurrence as this.

It seems highly singular that a bank can violate its own rules, set up by reason of experience, as being necessary to prevent the happening of such things as this, and then to allow them to hurt a completely innocent party, when by violation of those practices they have allowed the happening of this unfortunate transaction.

Certainly good practice would dictate that if a violation is to occur, then some other safeguard should be inserted. In this instance the one which could and should have occurred is obvious from the testimony of Mr. Benedict who admitted somewhat ruefully that he knew Mrs. Goeltz well, and could easily have telephoned her and prevented the whole damage from occurring.

In view of the fact that holding to their rule would have brought them knowledge of the true fact with reference to the ownership of the property (the subject of an offer of proof), since Mrs. Goeltz had she been brought to the bank by Mr. Goeltz would certainly have indicated the true ownership of the property to them, or if she had in any way been contacted about the proposed loan when a violation of bank rules was being authorized, she would have advised them of the true ownership of the real property, it appears completely justifiable from her point of view that the bank be made to suffer for their own

banking practice violation, rather than her, and that the 1948 mortgage be ruled to be completely subject to her true ownership interest in the property, as will more particularly appear at a subsequent point herein.

Point III

The claim of the plaintiff under the 1948 mortgage is subject to the true rights in ownership of said property as they actually existed in Marian Story Goeltz.

It is true, that the property here involved was held in joint tenancy for record purposes at the time the 1948 mortgage was entered into by Tracy-Collins Corp. and Francis B. Goeltz, and purportedly by appellant, and appellant is not unmindful of the cases holding that as to third persons the record is conclusive.

However, as to parties who have knowledge, or notice of facts putting them on a duty of inquiry, certainly the true facts are admissible as a defense to the foreclosure against the property involved where the claim is ultimately made, as here, that Mr. Goeltz pledged his interest in the real property. It becomes very material then to determine what that interest, was, if any.

Appellant made an offer of proof as to what that interest was, after the trial court had refused to allow appellant to testify concerning that interest.

It is submitted that the trial court erred in refusing to allow the appellant to establish the interest of the appellant involved

in the foreclosure and the interest of Francis B. Goeltz in that property.

It is further asserted, that in the circumstances here involved the appellant had the right to submit evidence that the property was her sole and separate estate, and paid for her out of her sole and separate property. 41 C.J.S. Sec. 251, p. 735; Wallace v. Riley, 23 Cal. App. 2d 669, 74 P. 2d 800; Long v. Duprey, 52 N.Y. 2d 93; Moskowitz v. Marrow 251 N.Y. 380, 167 N.E. 506.

Point IV

The trial court erred in refusing to allow the appellant to establish that the bank was put on notice in the 1948 mortgage loan application by the condition of the defendant Francis B. Goeltz physically and mentally at that time.

In this respect appellant relies upon the offer of proof made at the trial wherein counsel offered to prove (R. 154, 155, 158, 159) that Mr. Benedict a good friend of Goeltz knew of the fact that Goeltz was drinking heavily and not paying attention to business, that he was using all of his funds for drinking and allied purposes, that he was under the influence of liquor practically continually during the period when this 1948 mortgage was entered into, and that the bank through their agent knew of these facts, and that it consequently was an additional fact which should have put them on guard.

The principle is clear, that "whatever is notice enough to

excite attention and put the party on his guard, and calling for inquiry is notice of everything to which such inquiry might have led." Meagher v. Dean (Utah) 91 P. 2d 454; O'Reilly v. McLean 84 Utah 551, 37 P. 2d 770.

Taken alone, it may be that the facts as outlined in the offer of proof with respect to drunken condition of Goeltz would not be enough to tip the scales in favor of appellant's point of view, although we earnestly believe that it would be sufficient. However, this condition, when added to the "very unusual" occurrence of asking permission to take a mortgage note and mortgage out to be signed by one of the parties, certainly would appear to be sufficient to excite the person of ordinary observation powers to the extent that an inquiry would and should be made. The inquiry would have revealed that Goeltz had no right to mortgage, that Mrs. Goeltz was the owner of the property, and that any purported signature of hers would be a forgery.

Point V

The bank had possession of information from which it could have determined that the purported signatures of Marian Story Goeltz on the 1948 note and mortgage and supplemental agreement were forgeries, and was bound by what it should have discovered in this respect.

Counsel for appellant made demand upon plaintiff for the production of the original Mortgagors' statement in relation to the 1936 mortgage. This was produced by the plaintiff from its records, (R. 96, 118, 122) at the time of the trial. (Ex. 25-D R.)

This document bears the true signature of Marian Story Goeltz. Any examination whatsoever of the signature on that document and comparison of it with the poor attempt made in the 1948 note, mortgage and supplemental agreement to simulate her signature, would have at once indicated to the bank that a forgery was being attempted upon them.

In the face of the banking practice violated and the purpose of that practice to prevent such things, it seems inconceivable that the bank with a true signature in its possession and wherein the transaction in which document with the true signature on was being involved, would not have checked the signature at least perfunctorily as a cautionary measure. Any examination whatsoever, no matter how perfunctory would have at once revealed the forgery.

Appellant asserts that certainly the duty of the bank under the circumstances here involved extended to an examination of its own files and documents concerning this property, and that the bank should be bound by the knowledge it could have obtained from its own file. In this respect, the bank certainly had as much information available to it as was available to the bank in the case *Fidelity Trust & Savings Co. v. Williams* (Ill.) 1 N.E. 2d 739, where the husband got property into his wife's name by a series of transactions and then conveyed over to a third party and a mortgage obtained thereon with knowledge to the bank that the transfer to the third party was merely an accommodation. The court said:

“We know of no law to the effect that because a woman holds title to property her husband may make

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