1956

Tracy-Collins Trust Company v. Marian Story Goeltz : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

3. ARGUMENT

It is manifest that the mortgage dated May 10, 1948 (Ex. 10 P), constitutes a valid and enforceable obligation against Francis Boydell Goeltz, and the lien thereof attached to and bound his undivided one-half interest in the mortgaged premises. The lien of this mortgage continued as against the undivided interest of Francis Boydell Goeltz in the mortgaged premises after he and Mrs. Goeltz subsequently quit claimed the mortgaged premises to Elise Davis (Ex. 2 P Abstract of title; Ex. 7 P Deed from Goeltz to Davis) and after Elise Davis conveyed the mortgaged premises to Mrs. Goeltz. (Ex.

2 P Abstract of title; Ex. 8 P, Deed from Davis to Marian Story Goeltz.)

The promissory note dated May 10, 1948 (Ex. 9 P) is a joint and several obligation. Defendant, Francis Boydell Goeltz, admits his own execution of this note and the mortgage (Ex. 10 P) securing payment of same. Therefore, Francis Boydell Goeltz is liable on this note for the amount which is in excess of the then principal amount of the Pacific Mutual mortgage hereinafter described, which excess amount on date of this mortgage amounted to the sum of \$3,579.44 (testimony of Henry E. Ogaard R. 76), together with interest thereon and reasonable attorney's fees, cost of suit and incurring costs. His undivided one-half interest in the mortgaged premises as it existed on date of execution and delivery of said note and mortgage became and is now subject to a lien for this total judgment obligation.

POINT II.

RESPONDENT IS SUBROGATED TO RIGHTS OF THE PACIFIC MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AGAINST THE ENTIRE OWNERSHIP AND INTEREST OF THE DEFENDANTS IN THE MORTGAGED PREMISES UNDER THE MORTGAGE DATED OCTOBER 27, 1936. (Ex. 23 P, Ex. 4 P) EXECUTED BY THE DEFENDANTS, WHICH MORTGAGE WAS OWNED BY SAID INSURANCE COMPANY ON DATE OF EXECUTION OF MORTGAGE IN RESPONDENT'S FAVOR (Ex. 10 P) DATED MAY 10, 1948.

1. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 27, 1936, the Appellant and Defendant Francis Boydell Goeltz then husband and wife, were the

owners of the mortgaged premises in fee simple as joint tenants and not as tenants in common, (Ex. 2 P. Abstract of Title; Ex. 3 P, Bronson deed; Admission of Francis Boydell Goeltz, Answer of Francis Boydell Goeltz; Testimony of Marian Story Goeltz R. 153.) On that date they borrowed the sum of \$6,000.00 from Respondent and to evidence their indebtedness executed and delivered their joint and several promissory notes in favor of Respondent (Ex. 22 P) and their mortgage securing payment of said note covering the mortgaged premises (Ex. 23 P). This note and mortgage were produced in open court from the possession of Appellant, Marian Story Goeltz. She in her testimony admitted the genuineness of her signature on both of said documents (R. 147), and the witness H. D. Henager testified positively that Mr. and Mrs. Goeltz signed both the note and mortgage in his presence (R. 101, 102). This note (Ex. 22 P) and this mortgage (Ex. 23 P) dated October 27, 1936, for \$6,000.00 were thereafter sold and assigned by the Respondent to The R.F.C. Mortgage Company (Ex. 5 P) which subsequently sold and assigned them to The Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company (Ex. 6 P). On May 10, 1948 (date of execution and delivery of Exs. 9 P and 10 P) the Respondent did not own or hold any interest either directly or indirectly in said note (Ex. 22 P) and mortgage (Ex. 23 P). It was acting as collection agent only for The Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company. (Testimony of Henry E. Ogaard (R. 73, 76, 88) and H. D. Henager). There was due and payable to The Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company on May 10, 1948, on

said note and mortgage dated October 27, 1936 (Exs. 22 P and 23 P) the total sum of \$3,224.41. (Ex. 14 P, check in favor of The Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company; testimony of Henry E. Ogaard; testimony of H. D. Henager (R. 106). At the time (a few days prior to May 10, 1948), the defendant Francis Boydell Goeltz applied to the Respondent for a new mortgage loan on the security of the mortgaged premises, he talked with witness Henry E. Ogaard. (Testimony of Henry E. Ogaard R. 72). Ogaard informed Goeltz that the only way the then existing mortgage (then owned by The Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company) indebtedness could be increased was by way of a new loan evidenced by a new note and mortgage in favor of Respondent, the proceeds of which would be used in part to pay the balance then due on the mortgage of October 27, 1936, then owned by The Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company. Goeltz agreed to this requirement (R. 72, 79, 80). Goeltz at that time stated he wanted funds with which to pay the cost of remodeling the house situated on the mortgaged premises (R. 79), but Ogaard declared to him that the old loan (Ex. 22 P and 23 P) must be paid (testimony of Henry E. Ogaard R. 79). When the note and mortgage evidencing the new loan (Exs. 9 P, 10 P, 11 P) had been drafted, Goeltz first informed Henager that Mrs. Goeltz was unable to appear at the office of Respondent to execute these documents (R. 104). Henager refused to allow Goeltz to take the note, mortgage and agreement from the office to secure Mrs. Goeltz' signature (R. 104). Goeltz then conferred with Jos. E. Benedict, one of

Respondent's officers, and thereupon Benedict directed Henager to allow Goeltz to take the documents out of the office for execution by Mrs. Goeltz. (Testimony of H. D. Henager R. 104, 195); testimony of Jos. E. Benedict R. 165, 169). Goeltz thereupon took the documents from the office and a few days later returned them to Henager (R. 107). On their face they appeared to be properly executed and the mortgage duly acknowledged by both mortgagors R. 105, 116, 117). Thereupon Henager caused two checks to be drawn (R. 107, 108), one in favor of The Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company for the sum of \$3,224.41 (Ex. 14 P, R. 106) which Henager delivered to Ogaard (R. 107). A second draft for \$3,851.68 was drawn in Goeltz' favor and delivered to him. (Testimony of H. D. Henager R. 107). Ogaard transmitted the check for \$3,224.41 to the payee insurance company. (Testimony of Henry E. Ogaard, R. 75). The evidence clearly proves that the proceeds of the mortgage loan of May 10, 1948, were disbursed in regular and proper manner (Exs. 9 P, 10 P, 11 P, 16 P, 17 P, 18 P) and that Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company was paid and it received from the proceeds of the May 10, 1948 loan the sum of \$3,224.41 in full satisfaction of the indebtedness due under the mortgage of October 27, 1936 (Exs. 4 P, 22 P, 23 P, R. 75, 76). It was not until June 12, 1951 that Marian Story Goeltz informed Benedict, as an officer of Respondent, that she had not written her purported signatures on the note, mortgage and agreement of May 10, 1948, nor had she authorized any one to sign her name thereto. (Exs. 9 P, 10 P, 11 P; testimony of

Marian Story Goeltz R. 151); testimony of Jos. E. Benedict R. 169, 170)).

2. CITATION OF AUTHORITIES

(a) *Where a loan has been obtained by means of a forged mortgage and the proceeds used to pay off existing encumbrances against the property, the courts, without exception, have held that the mortgagee under the void mortgage is entitled to be subrogated to the rights of the prior mortgagee.*

See Annotation in 43 A.L.R. at pages 1404, 1405;

See Annotation in 151 A.L.R. at page 414;

See Annotation in 70 A.L.R. at pages 1398-1404.

“It is well settled that where the security given for the loan which is used to pay off an incumbrance turns out to be void, although the person taking it expected to get good security, he will be subrogated to the rights of the holder of the lien which the money advanced is used to pay; and that in such case the person advancing the money cannot be regarded as a stranger or volunteer, there being no intervening equity to prevent” (25 Ruling Case Law, 1343).

Newcomber, et al vs. Sibon, 119 Kan. 358; 239 P. 1110; 43 A.L.R. 1387. (Husband forged wife's signature to mortgage.)

Serial Building Loan and Savings Inst. vs. Eberhardt, 95 N.J. Eq. 607, 124 Atl. 56. (Husband forged wife's signature to mortgage.)

Davis vs. Pugh, 81 Ark. 253; 99 S.W. 78. (Husband forged wife's signature to mortgage.)

Zinkeisen vs. Lewis, 63 Kan. 590; 66 P. 644. (Husband forged wife's signature to mortgage.)

"The authorities are in conflict upon the right of one lending money upon the security of a forged or unauthorized mortgage to be subrogated to the lien of the prior mortgage which has been discharged by the money advanced on the void mortgage. However, a majority in number, and in our opinion the better reasoned cases, hold that one lending money upon the security of a void mortgage is entitled to be subrogated to the rights of the mortgagee under the prior valid mortgage which has been discharged with proceeds of the void one." (Landis vs. State, 179 Okla. 547; 66 P. 2d 519; 151 A.L.R. 403.) Home Owners' Loan Corp. vs. Papara, 241 Wis. 112; 3 N.W. (2nd) 730, 140 A.L.R. 1289.

"Subrogation will be allowed to the lender of money on the security of a forged deed of trust or mortgage, or one which is invalid because of the failure of the wife to join. *Mere negligence of the one seeking subrogation in failing to procure a properly executed mortgage will not, at least in the absence of intervening equities, defeat his right of subrogation.*" (Emphasis supplied.)

(50 Am. Jur., Subrogation, Sec. 99, pg. 744). Katschor vs. Ley, 153 Kan. 569; 113 P. 2d 128.

- (b) *"The generally accepted view at the present time, however, is that it is not necessary that there should be an express agreement that the prior lien shall be kept alive for the benefit of one advancing money to pay it, or that it be as-*

signed, but if from all the facts and circumstances surrounding the transaction it is clearly to be implied that it was the intention of the parties that the person making the advance was to have security of equal dignity and position with that discharged, then equity will so decree. In such cases, equity speaking from the standpoint of good conscience, substitutes the person so paying the debt to the place of the original creditor, so far as to enable him to enforce the security for the purpose of reimbursement.” (25 Ruling Case Law, Sec. 24, cited with approval in Martin vs. Hickenlooper, infra.)

“Therefore, whatever may have been the old test of what constituted a volunteer, stranger and intermeddler, we believe that the decided trend of modern authorities is to take a liberal view of the question; and being guided by this modern view we are of the opinion that a volunteer, a stranger, and intermeddler, is one who thrusts himself into a situation of his own initiative, and not one who becomes a party to a transaction upon the urgent petition of a person who is vitally interested, and whose rights would be sacrificed did he not respond to the importunate appeal. If this conception is in keeping with what we believe to be the modern and better view, it is clear that appellant was no stranger, volunteer or intermeddler. If he was not, why should he suffer?”

In this case James executed a mortgage to Schmitt, and then conveyed the mortgaged premises to his daughters subject to the mortgage. James died. One of the daughters was a minor.

Her guardian joined in a mortgage to plaintiff to obtain funds with which to pay the Schmitt mortgage. The guardian's mortgage was void because of lack of statutory authority in the court which authorized the mortgage in the guardianship proceeding. The plaintiff was by this decision subrogated to the rights of Schmitt. (*Laf-franchini vs. Clark*, 39 Nev. 48; 153 P. 250.)

An owner of mortgaged real property died intestate leaving a widow and adult children. The children conveyed their interest in the real estate to their mother. A mortgage on the real property was past due. It was necessary to renew it or secure a new loan to prevent foreclosure. The widow mortgaged the real estate to plaintiff for funds used to pay the mortgage against land at time of her husband's death. Held, as against administrator and general creditors of deceased, plaintiff was entitled to be subrogated to the rights of the holder of original mortgage. (*Federal Land Bank of Wichita vs. Hanks*, 123 Kan. 329, 254 P. 1040.)

"In this case Sutherland loaned his money to the owner of the leasehold estate for the purpose of paying off the lien held by the investment company, believing and expecting that he would get the same security that the company had whose liens he paid, but afterwards learned of the \$1,000.00 mortgage held by the plaintiff. An application of the equitable doctrine of subrogation to the transaction gives to the cross-complainant (Sutherland) the security he was led to believe he was getting, and the same that was held by the creditor whose debt he paid, and the plaintiff is left the same security he had before. Sutherland is substituted for the investment company as creditor and lien holder. * * * Tested alone by

the earlier cases, Sutherland might be regarded as a volunteer, but latterly the doctrine of subrogation has been developed and expanded and given a wider application to business matters. By analogy it has been applied to transactions similar to the one under consideration — to one having no previous interest to protect, who pays off a mortgage, or advances money for its payment, at the instance of the mortgagor and for his benefit, when no innocent party can be injured, believing he is getting security equal to that of the person whose debt he pays. We cannot hold Sutherland a mere volunteer and stranger, officiously intermeddling by paying debts due the Pacific Investment Company.” (George vs. Butler, 16 Utah 111, 50 P. 1032.)

Walker Bros. Bankers was administrator of the estate of one Merriam. Bingham was administrator of the estate of one Crane. Crane in his lifetime became indebted to one McMillan. After McMillan died his heirs pressed the heirs of Crane and Crane’s widow for payment. Crane had borrowed funds from one Norman and deposited shares of mining stock as security for payment. Merriam had signed the note in favor of Norman (along with Crane) as an accomodation maker. Norman did not demand payment of his note at that time. Before Merriam’s death he attempted to negotiate on behalf of Mrs. Crane a settlement of the McMillan debt. Merriam died before completion of negotiations. The bank, after its appointment as Merriam’s administrator and before the appointment of an administrator for Crane’s estate, renewed these negotiations. It finally secured an agreement from Mrs. Crane alone (no administrator having been appointed on her husband’s estate) whereby the shares of mining stock

held by Norman should be sold and from the proceeds the Norman note was to be paid and *also the indebtedness due the McMillan heirs*. This agreement was carried out. The action was brought by the administrator of Crane's estate, when he was appointed, against the bank as Merriam's administrator, to recover certain shares of mining stock held by Merriam at the time of death and the dividends therefrom (and which were held by the bank as Merriam's administrator) to be declared the property of the Crane estate. The evidence showed that these shares of stock belonged to Crane free from claim of Merriam or his administrator, and part of them, at least, had been transferred to Merriam by Crane in fraud of Crane's creditors. The Bank, as Merriam's administrator, having paid the debt owing from Crane to the McMillan heirs asserted the right to be subrogated to the rights of the McMillan heirs against the Crane estate. In denying the right of subrogation the court held that

(1) There was no legal subrogation because neither Merriam nor the bank as his administrator were under compulsion to pay the indebtedness due the McMillan heirs. Merriam's obligation on the joint note of himself and Crane to Norman did not furnish this compulsion.

"Where the person who pays the debt of another stands in the situation of surety or is compelled to pay to protect his own right or property, the right of subrogation is a consequence which equity attaches to such a condition, and the right of subrogation under such circumstances is not a direct result of an agreement. This, in law, is termed 'legal subrogation.' "

(2) There was no *conventional* subrogation because the agreement with the widow of Crane

did not bind the estate, and as a consequence the bank, as administrator, in making payment to the McMillan heirs, did not do so under a valid binding contract.

“Conventional subrogation depends upon a lawful contract * * *. It requires no argument to show that Mrs. Crane’s approval and acceptance of the defendant’s proposal, in so far as it attempted to bind the estate of Elias W. Crane, deceased, is void. (Dunn vs. Wallingford, 47 Utah 491, 155 P. 347.) The agreement does not purport to assign or in any way bind Mrs. Crane’s distributive share of the estate. Whatever may be its affect in that connection is not before us, and we do not attempt to say.” (Bingham vs. Walker Bros. Bankers, Administrator, 75 Utah 149, 283 P. 1055.)

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